STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners/Appellees/Defendants, (SCHICKEDANZ), was sued by the Respondent/Appellant/Plaintiff (HARRIS) alleging unpaid commissions were owed him and his company Respondent/Appellant/Plaintiff Real Estate Marketing and Consultants Inc. (REMAC). Neither HARRIS or REMAC were licensed real estate brokers at the time the alleged contracts or services were performed and to this day are not licensed under Chapter 475 F.S. The original contract between the parties was also executed by a licensed real estate broker by the name of David Paley but the Plaintiffs never named or brought Mr. Paley into the litigation.

The Trial Court gave HARRIS and REMAC three (3) separate opportunities to amend its complaint to state a cause of action in compliance with Chapter 475 F.S. and more specifically Section 475.42(1)(d) F.S. which states in part:

No salesman shall collect any money in connection with any real estate brokerage transaction, whether as a commission, deposit, payment, rental, or otherwise, except in the name of the employer and with the express consent of the employer; and no real estate salesman, whether the holder of a valid and current license or not, shall commence or maintain any action for a commission or compensation in connection with a real estate brokerage transaction against any person except a person registered as his employer at the time the salesman performed the act or rendered the service for which the commission or compensation is due.

Like in baseball "three strikes and your out" HARRIS and REMAC failed three (3) times to state a cause of action which complied with Chapter 475 F.S. The trial court finally dismissed their second amended complaint with prejudice. HARRIS and REMAC then appealed to the Fourth District who reversed the trial court's dismissal with an opinion dated November 17, 1999. SCHICKEDANZ filed a timely Motion for Rehearing which the Fourth District denied on January 6, 2000 and this Petition followed.

The Fourth District's opinion generally describes the contracts in question as follows:

The complaint alleges that on July 31, 1993, Harris and [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera entered into a brokerage and marketing agreement concerning [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera's Woodbine real estate development (original contract). in August 1993 Harris and [SCHICKEDANZ] Palm Beach executed an agreement for Harris to perform marketing consulting service for [SCHICKEDANZ] Palm Beach's real estate projects (consulting contract); and ReMac advanced sums of money on behalf of [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera which Riviera agreed to repay.

The original contract provided for Harris to perform three different services. First, Harris was to procure purchasers and obtain contract offers for [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera's residential units at Woodbine in exchange for a two percent real estate commission. Second, Harris was responsible for marketing [SCHICKEDANZ] Woodbine by preparing budgets for advertising, creating advertisements, and soliciting bids for the furnishing of model homes. Harris was to perform these marketing services without further compensation in addition to the promise to pay the real estate commission set forth above. The third

service was described in the Bonus Incentive Provision. Harris was to be paid a bonus commission if he kept marketing expenses [first and second services] below a certain percentage of gross sales. There was a separate formula set forth in the original contract from which to calculate Harris's commission on the savings.

After the **original contract** was terminated in July or August of 1995, Harris alleges that [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera reaffirmed the **original contract** provision for an incentive bonus and memorialized it by continuing to give Harris printouts of total marketing expenditures as required by the original contract provision. Harris alleges he continued to perform until March 1997 when his services were terminated.

In Count II for breach of contract Harris demands payment of his bonus incentive commission for any savings afforded [SCHICKEDANZ] Riviera by Harris.

. . .

Overseeing the marketing expenses of a real estate development in order to save the developer money is also not enumerated in the statute. The services under the Bonus Incentive Provision for which Harris alleges he is entitled to payment are not real estate sales or brokerage services as defined in sections 475.01(1)(c) & (d), Florida Statutes (1993). The trial court erred in dismissing on that basis.

. . .

In count IV Harris alleges that [SCHICKEDANZ] Palm Beach breached the consulting contract under which Harris was to prepare budgets for advertising the named residential developments, oversee development of these advertisements, solicit bids for the furnishing of model homes, prepare brochures, coordinate the "Grand Opening," design and set up the temporary sales trailer, and other services of a similar nature. As discussed above, Harris was not directly procuring purchasers. He was not required to appraise, auction, sell, exchange, buy, rent, or offer any real property. He also was not advertising that he was in the business of performing those

services. See § 475.01(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). The services required by the consulting contract do not fit within the statutory definition of real estate services. The trial court erred when it found Harris was acting as a real estate salesman under the consulting contract and Count IV should not have been dismissed.

(E.S., [] indicated clarifying language)

The contracts described above did not provide HARRIS and REMAC compensation in the form of a contract set price, salary or fee for service. The compensation formula was directly tied to the successful closing of real estate transactions or "gross sales." These contract services and compensation were all interrelated to the sale of real estate.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In its Opinion of November 17th, the Fourth District has redefined the licensing requirements of real estate brokers under Chapter 475, F.S. This new definition conflicts with decisions of other District Courts and the Florida Supreme Court conferring jurisdiction on this Court under Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), Appellate Rules.

ARGUMENT

In its Opinion of November 17th, the Fourth District determined that the original contract dated July 31, 1993 was a brokerage and marketing agreement consisting of three different services, including: (a) the procurement of purchasers and contract offers for sales in the Woodbine

project; (b) marketing Woodbine and preparing budgets for advertising, creating advertisements and soliciting bids; and (c) a bonus incentive program wherein Harris was to be paid a bonus commission if he kept marketing expenses (the first and second service) below a certain percentage of gross real estate sales. The Fourth District stated in its Opinion that the second and third services were not governed by the provisions of Chapter 475, F.S. In reaching this decision, the Fourth District opined that the original contract was a binding and valid contract between the parties and that the statutory definition of real estate broker or salesman is confined to "one who directly procures a purchaser, not whose services incidentally result in a real estate brokerage transaction." (p.2, Opinion, Appendix) The Fourth District also concluded in its Opinion that the so-called "Consulting Contract" dated August 1993 was a contract not subject to the provisions of Section 475, F.S. Based on these rulings, the Fourth District issued its mandate that Harris stated a valid cause of action for breach of expressed written contracts under the original contract and the consulting contract all alleged under Counts II and IV

¹ The bonus formula is directly tied to "gross real estate sales" which was the first service under the original contract. The more purchasers Harris procures, the greater the closings and increased "gross" sales which in turn affects his bonus. Of course, to procure more purchasers and increase gross sales, Harris must increase expenditures on marketing. The formula includes all three(3) services which cannot be segregated when computing the "bonus."

of the Second Amended Complaint.

However, we find that the statutory definition of real estate broker or salesman is confined to one who directly procures a purchaser not whose services incidentally result in a real estate brokerage transaction. (e. s.) Page 2 of Opinion in Appendix

In count V Harris alleges that Palm Beach breached the consulting contract under which Harris was to prepare budgets for advertising the named residential developments, oversee development of these advertisements, solicit bids for the furnishing of model homes, prepare brochures, coordinate the "Grand Opening," design and set up the temporary sales trailer, and other services of a similar nature. As discussed above, Harris was not directly procuring purchasers. He was not required to appraise, auction, sell, exchange, buy, rent, or offer any real property. He also was not advertising that he was in the business of performing those services. § 475.01(a), Fla. Stat. (1993). The services required by the consulting contract do not fit within the statutory definition of real estate services. (e.s.) Page 3 of Opinion in Appendix.

The Fourth District's opinion conflicts with *Allgood v. Florida Real Estate Commission*, 156 So. 2d 705 (Fla 2nd DCA, 1963). In *Allgood* the Court reviewed a sales promotion where unlicensed persons used telephone solicitations directed to the general public which invited them to the developer's project to see home sites. No details were given over the phone, just an invitation. The developer's phone solicitors were not licensed and the Commission brought the action. The trial court found the solicitors' actions to be governed by Chapter 475, Florida Statutes, because the solicitors

received \$3 for each member of the public who accepted an invitation just to view the lands. The Second District affirmed, stating:

It appears that the legislature intended to encompass a variety of services, which if performed in this state, for another, for compensation, would require licensing. One of such services is the obtaining of prospects for the purchase of real estate.

The legislature has seen fit to provide that **one who directs or assists in the procuring of prospects** for the purchase of real estate shall be registered, or licensed, as a real estate salesman, or broker.

The "bonus" of \$3.00 for each prospect the plaintiff produced is a material factor in this determination. This element takes the job out of the classification of simple clerical employment and indicates the importance of the salesmanship element. True, she makes no direct effort at sales but like the circus "drummer" she gets them in the tent for the show.

The ultimate consideration is that these prospects who are the object of extensive exposure to the sales program at some considerable expense are those determined by the efforts of the plaintiff to be at least interested in the project. She certainly is taking part in the procuring of prospective customers.

In *Florida Real Estate Commission v. McGregor*, 268 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1972), this Court expressly approved of *Allgood*:

No better exposition of the meaning and purpose of F.S. Section 475.01(2), F.S.A. is to be found than is expressed by the Second District Court of Appeal itself in the case of Alligood v. Florida Real Estate Commission, 156 So.2d 705. The court there on page 707 said: ...

The legislature has seen fit to provide that one who directs or assists in the procuring of prospects for the purchase of real estate shall be registered, or licensed, as a real estate salesman, or broker. The language which is pertinent to this case is admittedly broad, but it is equally clear and unambiguous.

See also *Florida Real Estate Commission*² v. *Reliable Rental Agency, Inc.*, 209 So. 2d 675 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968) wherein the Court stated:

We hold that in so ruling the trial judge was in error. We agree with the contention of the appellant that the compensation paid to the appellees on the basis of a percentage of rents collected was compensation for all of their services and not for the rental collections only. This is so because rental of the units of these housing properties is the sine qua non to the production of income and to the creation of rentals to be collected from which the compensation and amount of compensation to Reliable depends. The fact that Reliable may be compensated on the same percentage of collected rentals from owners who handle their own leases as is paid by owners for whom Reliable undertakes also to negotiate and make leases does not cause the leasing services for the latter group of owners to be done gratis. Where undertaken and performed, the handling of the leases is a substantial and integral part of the employment and services performed. (E.S.)

The "Bonus Incentive" as the third service to the original contract is not just incidental to the sale of real estate with paid commissions. The "Bonus" is

² The Fourth District's decision conflicts with the rules of the Florida Real Estate Commission which has concluded that an advertising program for sale of residential properties falls under Chapter 475, F.S. Rule 61J2-5.015, Florida Administrative Code.

"sine qua non" to the whole bundle of services under the original contract.

The above cited standards conflict with the Fourth District's opinion because the Supreme Court, the Third District and the Second District definitions of real estate broker include persons who only "assist in procuring prospects" while the Fourth District opinion substantially restricts the definition to only a person who "directly procures a purchaser." One who only "assists" is much different than one "directly" involved. A real estate "prospect" is much different than a "purchaser".

The term "assist" is defined in Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, West Publishing Company, 1968, as: "To help; aid; succor; lend continence or encouragement to; participate in as an auxiliary.... to contribute effort in complete accomplishment of an ultimate purpose intended to be affected by those engaged." However, the phrase "directly involved" has a much different meaning than "assist." Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, again defines "directly" to mean: "In a direct way without anything intervening; not by secondary, but by direct, means." The term "prospect" is undefined in <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u>, <u>Revised Fourth Edition</u>, but is defined in the Random House Webster's Dictionary to mean: "An apparent probability of advancement, success, profit, etc.; the outlook for the future; good business prospects; anticipation; expectation; a looking forward; something in view as source of profit; a potential or likely customer, client, candidate, etc." However, the term "purchaser" is something quite different as defined in Black's Law Dictionary, Revised Fourth Edition, to mean: "One who acquires real property in any mode than by dissent. One who acquires either real or personal property by buying it for a price in money; a buyer; vendee." It is clear from the different definitions of these terms that the Fourth District's opinion dramatically restricts and limits the definition of a licensed real estate broker as compared with the definition in the previously cited cases in the other District Courts of Appeal and in the Florida Supreme Court.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the above described conflicts between the Fourth District Court of Appeal's Opinion in this case, and previous opinions of the District Courts of Appeal and Florida Supreme Court create a clear and convincing conflict of decisions. These conflicts can create havoc in the real estate-related industries because under the Fourth District's new definition of licensed real estate broker, unlicensed persons are now free to "market" and to otherwise indirectly sell real estate without the public protections of the Florida Real Estate Commission and Chapter 475, Florida Statutes. For these reasons, it is imperative that this Court grant jurisdiction and review the Fourth District Court of Appeal's Opinion in this cause.