ORIGINAL

MAR 0 1 2000 CLERK, SUPREME COURT BY_____

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

SCHICKEDANZ BROS.-RIVIERA LTD., etc., et al.,

Petitioners

Supreme Court Case No. SCOO-221

4th DCA CASE NO: 98-3854

VS.

4

ROBERT HARRIS and REAL ESTATE MARKETING AND CONSULTING, INC.

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' AMENDED ANSWER TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Michael J. Ryan, Esquire Florida Bar #0 120754 14041 U.S. Highway One Suite E Juno Beach, FL 33408 (56 1) 694-6945

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The counts reinstated do not deal with real estate sales commissions because they are not based on compensation for real estate sales' services.

ARGUMENT

The Fourth District Court of Appeals reinstated three counts, none of which have to do with real estate commissions in any way, shape or form.¹

¹ Originally, Harris sued for a few unpaid commissions based on the fact that he was working for the Developer, Schickedanz Bros.- Riviera, Ltd., selling its own product, residential units at Woodbine, exclusively; and was owed a few commissions per the terms of the "Last Contract." The trial court dismissed these counts, the Fourth DCA affirmed, and Harris has decided to accept the fact that he is not going to be paid those commissions for which he was the procuring cause and chose (and does choose) to go forward on the rest of his claims, ie. Money lent, consulting fees regarding properties other than Woodbine, and marketing bonus.

<u>AS TO COUNT V:</u>

The fact is that REMAC, wholly owned by Harris, lent the Schickedanzes \$33,508.42 during the final months of his employment, which was never paid back. This is Count V for "money lent" which pleading was taken from the form approved by this Florida Supreme Court, Form 1.936 Fla.R.Civ.P. It does not appear that Petitioner takes exception to the Fourth DCA ruling as relates to Count V.

AS TO COUNT IV:

The fact is that the Schickedanz Bros. - Palm beach, Ltd., hired Harris as a marketing consultant and, even though he was to be paid a percent of gross sales, he was not involved in any selling activity, did not meet with buyers or talk directly with potential buyers, and, in short, did not perform any of the services usually provided by real estate sales persons in an effort to procure a buyer. See Count IV.

The Petitioner cites three cases for its proposition that the subject opinion is in direct conflict with each of them or all of them read together. They are all distinguishable from the facts of the case at bar. In <u>Alligood v. Florida Real Estate Commission</u> 156 So.2d 705 (2nd DCA, 1963), the activities of telemarketers who were paid bonuses for prospects who showed up at the site for a tour were deemed to come within the licensing jurisdiction of the Florida Real Estate Commission. The Court noted at 156 So.2d 706:

"5. The Plaintiff is compensated for these services at the rate of \$1.15 per hour for the time spent on the job, plus \$3.00 for every person, or 'buying unit' whom she successfully solicits to visit the area of said lands."

and at 707:

"The 'bonus' of \$3.00 for each prospect the plaintiff produced is a material factor in this determination. This element takes the job out of the classification of simple clerical employment and indicates the importance of the salesmanship element."

In the present case, Mr. Harris had no such direct contact with any potential purchaser and his compensation was a flat percent of all sales irrespective of the success of his efforts *vis a vis* particular purchaser closings. In short, he was not charged with any responsibility to procure buyers.

In <u>Florida Real Estate Commission v. Reliable Rental Agency, Inc.</u> 209 So.2d 675 (3 DCA, 1968), the employees of Reliable were renting other peoples' property as a regular service. They showed the property, signed the people up and took the money. At 209 So.2d at 676, the court noted:

""Reliable placed signs on or in the buildings advertising itself as the rental agent and directing prospective lessees to Reliable's office address. There, prospective lessees responding to such advertisements, were screened and leases were made by Reliable on behalf of the respective owners which the appellees found to be acceptable. In some instances the appellees undertook to keep the rental premises of an owner leased to the highest practicable percentage of occupancy."

In short, real estate sales services to directly procure tenants were being provided.

In <u>Florida Real Estate Commission v, MacGregor</u>, 268 So.2d 529 (Fla S.Ct. 1972) the employees of Mid-Sates Homes, Inc. actually solicited buyers and contracted for the sale of the real estate (in other words, they went out and <u>procured</u> buyers). At 268 So.2d 530 the Court noted:

"[1] It appears Mid-State Homes, Inc., Respondent, is engaged in purchasing and servicing mortgages on real estate, primarily homes. It has approximately 3,200 accounts, aggregating \$22,000,000 in mortgages receivable and obtains title to real estate through foreclosures or deed in lieu. Joe Bigsby and Sam Bullara. Jr. Respondents, are salaried employees of Mid-State. devoting. fifteen per cent of their time getting purchasers for the homes Mid-State has acquired by foreclosure or deed. These two are not officers of Mid-State and do not receive any bonus or commission for getting such purchasers." (emphasis supplied)

Again, there was a direct effort to procure buyers. To read the Petitioners' interpretation of the law, then one who paints a billboard advertising a home for sale who then sues to get paid would be barred. This is not the case, since the painter would not be directly involved in the procurement of a buyer. Neither was Harris.

AS TO COUNT II:

As to the Count for the "bonus", it is also likewise factually distinguishable from the three cases cited by Petitioners as being the basis for conflict jurisdiction. Harris was in charge of the marketing budget for Woodbine and he was to receive fifty (50%) percent of all the money saved by judiciously spending the budget which was five (5%) percent of the gross sales. This was the carrot. He bought the TV and radio time, designed the ads, did direct mail, purchased billboard design and space, placed newspaper advertising, etc. His remuneration was not a percent of gross sales, but, rather, one half (1/2) of the savings of the budget which was a percent of gross sales. It never mattered who sold the product. He was not required to have anything to do with procuring buyers, closing deals, showing the property, etc. As I noted above, this is different than the situations addressed in <u>Alligood, MacGregor or Reliable</u>.

CONCLUSION

The cases cited are distinguishable and do not conflict with the decision of the Fourth DCA in the case at bar.